THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 27 2019

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2018-CP-02-0003

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000803

Fonda E. Patrick and Andre Patrick.....Appellants,

v.

Gasnel E. Bryan, M.D., individually and as an agent and/or employee of Aiken Regional
Medical Center, LLC; Frank Y. Chase, M.D., individually and as agent and/or employee of
Aiken Regional Medical Center, LLC; and Aiken Regional Medical Centers, LLC.....
.....Respondents.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Francis M. "Brink" Hinson, IV (SC Bar # 74917)
Kelley R. Leddy (SC Bar # 103257)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANTS' NOI BASED UPON A MISTAKEN BELIEF THAT, EVEN FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN, NO COURT HAS THE POWER TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS TO TAKE PLACE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 30, 2015, Appellant Fonda Patrick underwent a salpingo-oophorectomy (the surgical removal of the ovaries and fallopian tubes) at Aiken Regional Medical Center. In the underlying case, the gravamen of Appellants' claims assert that Mrs. Patrick's bowel was injured during the aforementioned operation and that despite numerous indications of the injury (such as imaging studies showing a pelvic abscess that was increasing in size), the Respondents negligently failed to provide timely treatment. (Aff. of Merit, ¶¶ 7-10, ROA at 028-029). As a result of the bowel injury going unrecognized and untreated for several weeks, Mrs. Patrick became septic, was transferred to the Medical University of South Carolina ("MUSC"), and required nearly four months of inpatient treatment. (Notice of Intent to File Suit, ROA at 015; Aff. of Merit, ¶¶ 7-10, ROA at 028-029; Aff. of F. Patrick, ¶ 3, ROA at 100-101). Mrs. Patrick was discharged from MUSC in May of 2015, and, just a few months later, she and her husband (the Appellants) promptly retained Attorney H. Edward Smith to pursue claims for medical negligence against the Respondents. (Aff. of F. Patrick, ¶ 4, ROA at 101).

On January 22, 2018, which was eight days before the three-year anniversary of the surgery giving rise to the Appellants' causes of action, Attorney Smith filed a Notice of Intent to File Suit (NOI) against the Respondents. (Notice of Intent to File Suit, ROA at 015-025). It is undisputed that the NOI was filed within the applicable three-year statute of limitations and that its filing served to toll all applicable statutes of limitations. It is also undisputed that the NOI was initially filed without an accompanying affidavit of merit, which, in situations where the filing is made within ten days prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, is permissible under S.C. Code § 15-36-100(C)(1). In such circumstances, a plaintiff is allowed forty-days of additional time to supplement the pleading with an affidavit of merit, and the statute also grants

the trial court power to further extend this time period for good cause shown and as justice requires. Thus, Appellants had until March 3, 2018 to file an affidavit of merit, but this deadline could be extended by the Circuit Court.

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-79-125(A), the NOI was to be “served upon all named defendants in accordance with the service rules for a summons and complaint outlined in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” When an action is commenced at the eve of the statute of limitations, Rule 3(a), SCRCPP, affords a 120-day time period for service of process, but Rule 6(b), SCRCPP, provides a means by which the time for service can be extended by the Circuit Court. Thus, unless an extension was granted, Appellants had until May 22, 2018, to serve the NOI on the Respondents.

Without ever supplementing the NOI with an affidavit of merit, Attorney Smith sought to withdraw from the case, and on February 14, 2018, the Court granted his request to be relieved as counsel. (Order of Judge Keesley, ROA at 001). Thus, with a quickly approaching deadline to file an affidavit of merit from a qualified expert, Appellants were left as *pro se* litigants in a complicated medical malpractice action. Besides having not procured and filed an affidavit of merit at the time he withdrew from the case, Attorney Smith had also not undertaken to serve the NOI upon any of the Defendants/Respondents.

After their attorney’s withdrawal, Appellants promptly and diligently sought to obtain new counsel and called numerous medical malpractice lawyers throughout the state. (Aff. of F. Patrick, ¶ 6, ROA at 101). However, due to the very short window of time (three weeks) to locate an expert witness to review the voluminous medical file and provide an affidavit of merit, Appellants were unable to retain an attorney that was willing and able to undertake the monumental task on such short notice. (Aff. of F. Patrick, ¶ 6, ROA at 101).

With the hope and expectation that they would be able to secure counsel if they could only provide him/her with more than a few days' time to accomplish all that needed to be done, on June 27, 2018, Appellants, acting *pro se*, filed a motion seeking an extension of time to file an affidavit of merit. (Motion for Extension, ROA at 064-065). As is common with many counties' dockets, the Appellants' motion was not heard until nearly four months later when, on September 24, 2018, it came before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod. At the time the motion for an extension was before Judge McLeod, the 120-day tolling period to accomplish service of process had passed, and during the September 24th hearing on the request for an extension of time, Appellants specifically notified the Court that the Defendant/Respondents had not yet been served. (Trans. of Hearing on Sept. 24, 2018, p. 4:8-14, ROA at 036).

On September 28, 2018, the Court issued an Order that granted Appellants an extension of 45-days from the date of the ruling (thus until November 13, 2018). (Order of Judge McLeod, ROA at 004). The Order granting an extension of time only made mention of time to file the affidavit of merit; however, given that the Court was aware that the NOI had not been served on anyone, that the 120-day deadline for service of process had passed, and that granting additional time to file the affidavit without also granting time to serve would be meaningless, it was Appellants' understanding that the Court's Order of September 28th provided them with 45-days to file an affidavit of merit and serve all of the Respondents. With the benefit of the Court having granted the extension of time, Appellants were then able to find representation by the Finkel Law Firm. (Aff. of F. Patrick, ¶ 8, ROA at 102).

On November 7, 2018, several days before the November 13th deadline, Appellants' new counsel filed an appearance in the case and also filed an affidavit of merit that appropriately attested to medical negligence having been committed by Respondents. (Notice of Appearance

of Francis M. Hinson, IV, ROA at 066). The very next day, November 8, 2018, the NOI and accompanying affidavit of merit were sent via certified mail for service upon the Respondents. In short, Appellants had accomplished what Judge McLeod had granted them leave to do by way of his September 28th Order.

On December 19, 2018, Respondent Aiken Regional Medical Center moved to dismiss Appellants' NOI, with Respondents Gasnel E. Bryan, M.D., and Frank Y. Chase, M.D., filing similar motions on December 28, 2018 and January 4, 2019, respectively. (Aiken Reg. Med. Centers' Motion to Dismiss NOI, ROA at 084-087; Gasnel E. Bryan, M.D., and Jonathan H. Anderson, M.D.'s Motion to Dismiss, ROA at 088-089; Defendant Frank Y. Chase, M.D.'s Motion to Dismiss, ROA at 091-092). Respondents' motions essentially sought to overturn the extension of time that Judge McLeod previously granted.

Respondents' Motions to Dismiss were heard before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly on March 5, 2019. Respondents' argued that Appellants' NOI should be dismissed because it had not been served within the statute of limitations or within 120 days after filing of the NOI. (Trans. of Hearing on Mar. 5, 2019, pp. 6:20-25, ROA at 045-063). On April 15, 2019, Judge Kelly granted Respondents' Motions to Dismiss and issued an Order dismissing Appellants' NOI with prejudice. (Order of Judge Kelly, ROA at 009-011). The Circuit Court's stated basis for the dismissal was a belief that time to accomplish service of process could never be extended for any reason, writing that "Rule 3 mandates a firm deadline for commencing an action within the applicable statute of limitations, which no court has the jurisdiction to extend." (Order of Judge Kelly, p. 3, ROA at 009). Overlooking the equitable rules that, when good cause is shown and justice so requires, permit the Circuit Court discretion to grant extensions of time for commencing an action, the Court's April 15th Order added that "[w]hen Plaintiff's failed to serve

their NOI by May 22, 2018, their claims immediately became barred by the applicable statute of limitations.” (Order of Judge Kelly, p. 3, ROA at 009). Judge Kelly’s Order of April 15, 2019, essentially nullified and overruled Judge McLeod’s prior Order from September 28, 2018, which had granted Appellants an extension of time until November 13, 2019.

On April 19, 2019, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which Judge Kelly denied a few days later. (Motion for Reconsideration, ROA at 132; Order of Judge Kelly, ROA at 012-014). This appeal followed. For the Court’s convenience, a synopsis/timeline of the relevant dates is as follows:

- Jan. 30, 2015:** Salipingo-oophorectomy is performed at Aiken Reginal Medical Center.
- May 2015:** Mrs. Patrick is discharged from MUSC.
- Jan. 2016:** Appellants retain H. Edward Smith, Esq.
- Jan. 22, 2018:** Mr. Smith files a Notice of Intent to File Suit.
- Jan. 30, 2018:** Approximate date when the statute of limitations would run on Appellants’ claims.
- Feb. 14, 2018:** Mr. Smith withdraws as counsel for Plaintiffs.
- Jan–May of 2018:** Appellants look for a new attorney. They call many different lawyers but no one will even look at their file because of the short time period that remains.
- Mar. 8, 2018:** 45-day deadline to supplement the NOI with an affidavit of merit (if an extension of time is not granted by the court) runs.
- May 22, 2018:** The 120-day deadline to serve all parties with the NOI (if an extension of time is not granted by the court) runs.
- June 27, 2018:** Appellants, acting as *pro se* litigants, move for an extension of time.
- Sept. 24, 2018:** Appellants’ motion for an extension of time is heard by Judge McLeod.
- Sept. 28, 2018:** With knowledge that the NOI has not yet been served, Judge McLeod grants a 45-day extension.
- Nov. 7, 2018:** Finkel Law Firm files notice of appearance and, the same day, an affidavit of merit is filed with the Clerk of Court.

Nov. 8, 2018: NOI and Affidavit of Merit are Sent for Service of Process via Certified Mail.

Nov. 13, 2018: Deadline of the extension granted by Judge McLeod.

Dec. 2018: All Respondents file motions to dismiss the NOI.

March 5, 2019: Respondents' motions to dismiss are heard by Judge Kelly.

April 15, 2019: Judge Kelly grants Respondents' motions to dismiss the NOI.

April 19, 2019: Appellants file a motion for reconsideration.

April 29, 2019: Judge Kelly denies Appellants' motion for reconsideration.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Rules of Civil Procedure

In interpreting the meaning of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes. Maxwell v. Genez, 356 S.C. 617, 591 S.E.2d 26 (2003). Thus, because the resolution of this matter turns on the interpretation of Rules 3 and 6, SCRPC, the appropriate standard of review is the same as the standard for the interpretation of a statute, which is an action at law. Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't. of Transp., 398 S.C. 90, 107–08, 727 S.E.2d 407, 416 (2012). An issue regarding the interpretation of a Rule of Civil Procedure is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*: S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't. of Health & Env'tl. Control, 390 S.C. 418, 425, 702 S.E.2d 246, 250 (2010) (looking at the standard of review in matters dealing with statutory interpretation); Fairchild, *supra*. (citing Muci v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 732 N.W.2d 88, 93 (Mich. 2007) (“The interpretation of court rules and statutes presents an issue of law that is reviewed *de novo*.”)). An appellate court reviews all questions of law *de novo*. Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009). “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” Clardy v. Bodolosky, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009).

In interpreting the Rules of Civil Procedure, the Rules “shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.” Rule 1, SCRPC. “If a rule’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced.” Ex parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 15, 625 S.E.2d 205, 209 (2005). Courts should consider not only the particular clause in which words are used, but the words and their meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole rule and the policy of the rule. South Carolina Coastal Council v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n, 306 S.C. 41, 44, 410 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1991) (applying this rule of construction to a statutory provision). In construing a Rule of Civil Procedure, a rule’s language must be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose. Mun. Ass’n of S.C. v. AT&T Communications of Southern States, Inc., 361 S.C. 576, 606 S.E.2d 468 (2004) (applying the rule of construction to a statutory provision).

2. Issues of Equity

When a suit involves both legal and equitable issues, each retains its own identity as either legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal. Holly Woods Ass’n of Residence Owners v. Hiller, 392 S.C. 172, 180, 708 S.E.2d 787, 792 (Ct. App. 2011). Therefore, to the degree that the resolution of this matter considers or otherwise involves Judge McLeod’s Order granting Appellants an extension of time, the Circuit Court’s decision to grant the extension should not be disturbed unless there is a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Morgan v. State Farm Mutual Ins. Co., 229 S.C. 44, 91 S.E.2d 723 (1956) (applying the abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the trial court’s decision concerning whether to grant an extension of time to answer a complaint); Stickland v. Consol. Energy Prod. Co., 274

S.C. 554, 558, 265 S.E.2d 682, 684 (1980) (finding that the refusal of appellants' motion to be permitted to file an answer constituted an abuse of discretion requiring reversal).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANTS' NOI BASED UPON THE MISTAKEN BELIEF THAT NO COURT HAS THE POWER TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS TO TAKE PLACE. IN FACT, IF THE MOVANT CAN SHOW GOOD CAUSE, RULE 6, SCRPC, SPECIFICALLY PERMITS AN EXTENSION OF TIME FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS TO BE ACCOMPLISHED.

A. Rule 6, SCRPC, Allows the Trial Court the Power to Grant Extensions of Time to Serve

The Circuit Court dismissed Appellants' NOI based on a misapprehension that the time period for service of process can never, under any circumstances, be extended. This is an incorrect interpretation of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which is summarized in the following statement from the Circuit Court: "Rule 3 mandates a firm deadline for commencing an action within the applicable statute of limitations, which no court has the jurisdiction to extend." (Order of Judge Kelly, p. 3, ROA at 009). Operating under this misinterpretation of Rule 3, the trial court improperly overruled another judge's prior order finding that good cause existed to grant the Appellants an extension of time. As discussed below, the 120-day time period for service set forth in Rule 3(a), SCRPC, can be extended because the Rule is not among the "absolute deadlines" contained within Rule 6(b), which provides that, for good cause, the time period for service of process can be extended.

Such a hard and fast rule flies in the face of the inherent powers vested in our trial court. "Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to insure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible." Ex parte Dibble, 279 S.C. 592, 595, 310 S.E.2d 440,

442 (Ct. App. 1983). Our law gives the trial court broad discretion with regard to the granting of extensions of time. To this point, Rule 6(b), SCRCP, provides:

Enlargement. When by these rules or by notice given thereunder or by order of court an act is required or allowed to be done at or within a specified time, **the time may be extended by** written agreement of counsel for an additional period not exceeding the original time provided in these rules, **or the court for cause shown may at any time in its discretion** (1) with or without written motion or notice order the period enlarged if request therefore is made before the expiration of the period as originally prescribed or extended or (2) **upon motion made after the expiration of the specified period, for good cause shown, permit the act to be done.** The time for taking any action under rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) may not be extended except to the extent and under the conditions stated in them. The time for filing notice of intent to appeal is jurisdictional and may not be extended by consent or order.
(*emphasis added*).

By the plain application of the wording of Rule 6(b), if good cause is shown, the trial court can extend deadlines at any time. Notably, the last sentence of Rule 6(b) lists four specific Rules of Civil Procedure to which it is inapplicable and thus to which an extension of time cannot be granted. These four “carve outs” are only Rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) and do not include Rule 3(a). South Carolina recognizes the maxim of “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*,” meaning that expression of one thing implies the exclusion of another. See Hughes v. W. Carolina Reg’l Sewer Auth., 386 S.C. 641, 647, 689 S.E.2d 638, 641 (Ct. App. 2010). Therefore, since Rule 6(b) provides that the time periods set forth in Rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) are “absolute deadlines” that may be extended only for the reasons (if any) set forth within those specific Rules, all of the other time periods and deadlines contained within the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure are not absolutes and may be enlarged or extended within the trial court’s discretion “for good cause shown.” See Overland, Inc. v. Nance, 423 S.C. 253, 815 S.E.2d 431 (2018) (holding that the ten-day deadline under Rule 59 is an absolute deadline and

the trial court cannot use Rule 6(b) to extend the deadline since Rule 59 is specifically mentioned in Rule 6).

In summary, because Rule 3(a)'s 120-day time period for service is not among the list of "absolute deadlines" contained in Rule 6(b), a plain reading of the Rule demonstrates that the Circuit Court may extend the time allowed for service of process under Rule 3(a), even in situations where the statute of limitations has expired. Although South Carolina has no appellate decisions directly on this issue, the Supreme Court of Vermont has addressed the issue at hand, finding that the trial court holds the power to extend the time for service and stating:

Rule 6 would not apply to the initial filing of a complaint when no other act to commence the action had been taken because the rule is limited to acts controlled by the procedural rules or by the court. The date by which one must initiate an action is controlled by statute. **The time permitted for service once a complaint has been filed, on the other hand, is a procedural matter controlled by the rules [of civil procedure].**

Bessette v. Dep't. of Corr., 928 A.2d 514, 518 (VT. 2007) (*emphasis added*) (finding that the rules governing the enlargement of time make it permissible for the trial court to allow a plaintiff to obtain an extension for service of the summons and complaint).

In addition to Vermont, all of our sister states that have addressed this issue have determined that the trial court has the inherent power to extend the time for service of process. See Leader v. Maroney, Ponzini & Spencer, 276 A.D.2d 194, 200 (N.Y. 2000) ("in keeping with the Legislative intent to liberally grant extensions in cases where, as here, the Statute of Limitations expired after filing, and in view of the fact that the plaintiff has a potentially meritorious cause of action and the defendants made no showing of prejudice, we find that the [trial court] properly exercised its discretion in granting the plaintiff's motion for an extension of time to effect service."); Green v. Lingle, 166 So. 3d 221 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2015) (holding that plaintiff's failure to perfect service on defendant before the hearing on defendant's motion to

dismiss for failure to perfect service within 120 days of filing of the complaint did not preclude the trial court from exercising its discretion to grant an extension of time to accomplish service, in light of the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to plaintiff's claim"); Oldroyd v. Kanjo, 432 P.3d 879, 884 (Wyo. 2019) ("Expiration of the statute of limitations alone can be sufficient to grant a permissive extension of time for service."); Heard v. Remy, 937 So. 2d 939, 943 (Miss. 2006) (holding that, if granted for good cause, an extension of time to serve process will toll the statute of limitations). These holdings should not come as a surprise, for a trial court holds the power to apply equitable principles to toll the statute of limitations, it stands to reason that the court also holds the power to extend the time to accomplish service of process.

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