THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-NI-02-00003
Appellate Case No.: 2019-000803

RECEIVED
JAN 06 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Fonda E. Patrick and Andre Patrick Appellants,

v.

Gasnel E Bryan, M.D., individually and as an agent and/or employee of Aiken Regional Medical Centers, LLC; Frank Y. Chase, M.D., individually and as agent and/or employee of Aiken Regional Medical Centers, LLC; Jonathan H. Anderson, individually and as an agent and/or employee of Aiken Regional Medical Centers, LLC; and Aiken Regional Medical Centers, LLC, Defendants

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE PATRICKS FAILED TO COMMENCE THEIR ACTION WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The applicable statute of limitations in this case is three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-545. Timely filing a NOI tolls the applicable statute of limitations; however, that is subject to the NOI being served upon all defendants in accordance with the service rules for a summons and complaint outlined in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. S.C. § Ann. 15-79-125. Under the Rules, a summons and complaint must be served within the statute of limitations or within 120 days of filing. Rule 3, SCRPC; *Mims ex rel. Mims v. Babcock Center, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 341, 732 S.E.2d 395 (2012).

The Patricks filed the NOI on January 22, 2018. They have never disputed the statute of limitations began to run on January 30, 2015 when the surgery was performed by Dr. Bryan; therefore, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-545, the Patricks filed the NOI just before the statute of limitations was set to expire on January 30, 2018. After they filed the NOI, they were then required to serve it within 120 days of the filing (May 22, 2018) as dictated by Rule 3, SCRPC. As noted above, Aiken Regional was not served until November 9, 2018, nearly six months after the deadline. Therefore, the Circuit Court was correct in dismissing the Patricks’ NOI on the basis they failed to commence the action within the applicable statute of limitations.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE ACTION MUST BE COMMENCED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The Patricks argue the Circuit Court erred in finding the time for service of process cannot be extended beyond 120 days. In making this argument, the Patricks have misinterpreted the Circuit Court's ruling.

By statute, the Patricks had to commence this action within three years of the date of accrual. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-545. An action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if actual service is accomplished within 120 days after filing. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20. In 2004, in response to the legislature amending § 15-3-20, the Supreme Court amended Rule 3(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to state:

(a) Commencement of civil action. A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if:

- (1) the summons and complaint are served within the statute of limitations in any manner prescribed by law; or
- (2) if not served within the statute of limitations, actual service **must** be accomplished not later than one hundred twenty days after filing. (emphasis added)

In 2012, the Court took the opportunity to explain its amendment of Rule 3 in *Mims ex rel Mims v. Babcock Center Inc.*:

In amending Rule 3(a), SCRCP, this Court recognized that the legislative intent in amending section 15-3-20(B) in 2002 was to provide a safety net for cases where filing of the summons and complaint occurs near the end of the statute of limitations and service is made after the limitations period has run. The statute and the rule, read together, provide that (1) an action is commenced upon filing the summons and complaint, if service is made within the statute of limitations, and (2) if filing but not service is accomplished within the statute of limitations, then service **must** be made within 120 days of filing.

399 S.C. at 346, 732 S.E.2d at 397-98 (emphasis added).

Contrary to the Patricks' contention, *Mims* stands for the proposition that an action "must" be commenced within the applicable statute of limitations. To do that, a plaintiff must serve the summons and complaint prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations or within 120 days of the filing of the action. The use of the word "must" by both the legislature in drafting S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20 and the Court in drafting Rule 3 establishes this as a firm deadline, which no court has the power to extend. The Patricks have cited no legal authority for their contrary position.

Rather, the Patricks argue pursuant to Rule 6, SCRPC and the court's inherent powers to do all things necessary to insure just results are reached, the Circuit Court had the power to extend the 120 deadline for completing service. The Patricks concede there are no South Carolina appellate cases which support their argument, so they rely on numerous cases from other jurisdictions. (App. Br., s. A) The problem with relying on cases from other jurisdictions is the holdings are based on rules of civil procedure that are very different from the rules in South Carolina. The rules for service of process in New York, Florida, Wyoming, and Mississippi all specifically provide for a possible extension in cases where good cause is shown. *See e.g.* Rule 1.070(j), Fla.R.Civ.P. ("If service of the initial process and initial pleading is not made upon a defendant within 120 days after filing of the initial pleading directed to that defendant the court, on its own initiative after notice or on motion, shall direct that service be effected within a specified time or shall dismiss the action without prejudice or drop that defendant as a party; provided that if the plaintiff shows good cause or excusable neglect for the failure, the court shall extend the time for service for an appropriate period.") Rules 3 and 4 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure do not include any such language.

Regardless, even if the Patricks were correct that Rule 6, SCRPC may permit a court to extend the time period for completing service of process under certain circumstances, that does

not mean a court has the power to extend the deadline for commencing an action within the applicable statute of limitations, which was the issue before the court in this case. The time limits for commencing the action in this case were clearly set forth by the legislature in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-20 and 15-3-545. Courts do not have the power to change time limits set forth by the legislature. *See Bray v. Marathon Corp.*, 356 S.C. 111, 117, 588 S.E.2d 93, 96 (2003) (“Where the legislature has, by statute, acted upon a subject, the judiciary is limited to interpretation and construction of the statute.”).

As the Patricks point out, courts do have the inherent power to equitably toll the statute of limitations in “extraordinary” circumstances. *See Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Services and Rehabilitation Center*, 388 S.C. 108, 687 S.E.2d 29 (2009). However, tolling the statute of limitations is not the same as extending the time limit for commencing an action within the statute of limitations. “Toll” in the context of a statute of limitations means to stop the running of the statute (Black Laws Dictionary, 2nd. Pocket Ed., 2001), whereas “extend” means actually making the statutory period longer. *See also Hooper*, 388 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32 (“Tolling refers to **suspending or stopping** the running of a statute of limitations.”) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). While courts may have the power to stop the running of the statute of limitations in very limited circumstances, they do not have the power to extend the time limits set forth by the legislature for commencing an action within the applicable statute of limitations.

III. JUDGE MCLEOD’S ORDER DID NOT EQUITABLY TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The Patricks contend that in granting them a forty-five day extension to file an affidavit of merit, Judge McLeod also equitably tolled the statute of limitations. There is no evidence in the record to suggest Judge McLeod contemplated equitably tolling the statute of limitations, much less that he actually did so.

First off, the Patricks did not ask the court for an extension of time to commence the action. Rather, the Patricks filed a "Motion for Extension of Time to File Affidavit of Merit." As indicated by the title of the motion, the only relief they sought was "45-days to supplement the NOI with an affidavit of merit." (Mot, p. 2, R. at 065). In so doing, they referenced S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-79-125(A) and 15-36-100(C)(1); however, they never mentioned S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20 or Rule 3, SCRCPP, nor did they make any reference to the deadline for serving the NOI.

Contrary to the Patricks' contention, it was not made clear during the motion hearing on September 24, 2018 that the NOI had not been served. The only reference to service was when the Patricks stated,

"My understanding was that I had filed suit but once I got with Mr. Smith again, he had not filed anything. He had just filed the intent without any of the people that are on the suit receiving any notification of it." (Sept. 24, 2018 Hearing Transcript, p. 4, R. at 096).

The only thing that is clear from the Patricks' statement is Mr. Smith did not serve the NOI after he filed it, but it is not clear from the statement whether service may have been accomplished sometime thereafter. Judge McLeod did not ask any follow up questions or otherwise seek to clarify whether service had ever been completed. At no point in their motion or during the hearing did the Patricks specifically mention that as of the hearing date, none of the Respondents had been served. Instead, the focus was on the affidavit of merit issue.

Based upon his Order, it would appear Judge McLeod was operating under the impression Respondents had been served. He granted the motion, at least in part, because Respondents had not filed a motion to dismiss or objected to the request for an extension. (Sept. 28, 2018 Order, p. 2, R. at 005). The ruling presupposes service, as Respondents would not have known they needed to file a motion to dismiss or object to the requested extension unless they had been served.

Finally, there is nothing in Judge McLeod's Order which suggests he intended to grant the

Patricks an extension of time to serve the NOI. The Order simply granted the Patricks the relief they sought; it did not in any way address whether the Patricks had timely commenced the action. The Order held, “this court hereby GRANTS the Plaintiffs’ motion and the Plaintiffs have forty-five (45) days from the date of this Order to supplement their Notice of Intent to File Suit with an affidavit of merit.” (*Id.*) The Order never referenced the time for serving the NOI. It never referenced the statute of limitations or whether the action had been timely commenced. It certainly never mentioned tolling the statute of limitations.

When the Order was entered on September 28, 2018, it had been more than four months since the statute of limitations had expired on the Patricks’ claims. That is a considerably long time. South Carolina has rarely applied the doctrine of equitable tolling to halt the running of the statute of limitations, *see American Legion Post 15 v. Horry County*, 381 S.C. 576, 582, 674 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2009), and Aiken Regional is not aware of any circumstance in which a South Carolina appellate court has equitably tolled the statute of limitations in a civil action after it had been missed by more than a month, much less four months. Surely, if Judge McLeod intended to toll the statute of limitations after such a long period of time, there would have been some discussion of it. Instead, the Order only discusses an extension of time to file an affidavit of merit. As the Patricks state in their brief, “expression unius est alterius.” Judge McLeod either intentionally decided not to include any language about tolling the statute of limitations, or more likely, he simply never considered it.

IV. EQUITABLE TOLLING IS NOT APPROPRIATE IN THIS CASE.

The Patricks never filed a motion in which they sought an equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. The doctrine was not discussed during the September 24, 2018 hearing in front of Judge McLeod. While the Patricks very briefly mentioned equitable tolling in their memorandum

in opposition to Respondents' motions to dismiss (Mem. in Opp., p. 11, R. at 113), there was no discussion of it during the March 5, 2019 hearing in front of Judge Kelly. The first time they really argued the court should apply the doctrine was in their April 19, 2019 motion to reconsider. (Mot. to Rec., p. 5, R. at 136). Therefore, Aiken Regional contends the issue was never properly before the Circuit Court. *See Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) ("An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.") As a result, the issue is not reviewable by this Court. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (stating issues must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review).

Nevertheless, this is not one of those "extraordinary" circumstances which warrants an equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. *See Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 116, 687 S.E.2d at 32 (equitable tolling may be used in cases where a litigant failed to commence the action within the applicable statute of limitations because of an "extraordinary" event beyond his or her control). As noted in *Hooper*, equitable tolling should be used sparingly and only after the party claiming the statute of limitations should be tolled establishes facts sufficient to justify the use of the doctrine. (*Id.*) The facts of this case are not so extraordinary as to support an equitable tolling.

Equitable tolling typically applies in situations where the defendant is shown to have actively misled or prevented the plaintiff in some extraordinary way from timely commencing a lawsuit. *Id.* In the present action, unlike in *Hooper* and unlike the hypothetical situation posed by the Patricks in their brief (App. Br., s. A), Respondents were in no way responsible for the Patricks' failure to timely commence the action.

Other than the withdrawal of their counsel, which they consented to, the Patricks have put forth no explanation as to why they were unable to serve the NOI prior to the May 22, 2018

deadline. Lack of counsel is not an “extraordinary” circumstance which warrants equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. See *Maier v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct.App.1998) (“The statute is not delayed until the injured party seeks advice of counsel... instead, reasonable diligence requires a plaintiff to act with some promptness.”) Despite knowing the NOI had not been served, the Patricks simply made no attempt to complete service until November 2018.

Also, unlike in *Hooper*, this is not a situation in which the Patricks barely missed the deadline for commencing the action. In *Hooper*, the plaintiff completed service approximately one week after the 120 deadline. Here, the Patricks missed the deadline by nearly six months. The Patricks have put forth no facts upon which the court could reasonably surmise they “diligently” attempted to timely commence their action, but were prevented from doing so by extraordinary circumstances beyond their control. See *CTS Corp. v. Waldburger*, 573 U.S. 1, 134 S.Ct. 2175 (2014); see also *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Services and Rehabilitation Center*, 377 S.C. 217, 659 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 2008) (discussing policy considerations for statutes of limitations and citing cases from numerous jurisdictions for why equitable tolling should not be used in circumstances where plaintiffs have not diligently pursued their claims). As a result, even assuming *arguendo* the Patricks timely raised the issue, the Circuit Court correctly refused to apply the equitable tolling doctrine to this case.